
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU on Tuesday, 22 November 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A  
 

Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 12) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Construction Infrastructure Innovation & Skills Hub  (Pages 13 - 28) 

6. Local Cycling and Working Infrastructure Plan Report  (Pages 29 - 34) 

7. Dropped Kerbs and EV Charging Guides  (Pages 35 - 58) 

8. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23  (Pages 59 - 70) 

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 



10. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in Private  
 

 

 

None.  
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair) 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Dakota Dibben 
Brian Francis 
Leslie Hills 
Leslie Hoskins 
Nirmal Khabra 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1 

Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 
 

Monday, 10 October 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair) 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Dakota Dibben 
Ejaz Aslam 
Baljit Hayre 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Hills 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
Leslie Hoskins 

  
Wendy Lane 
Tom Reynolds 
Keith Grimley 

Assistant Director (Planning) 
Assistant Director (Strategic Regeneration) 
Senior Economic Development Officer 

Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes) 
  
  

109. Apologies for Absence  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Brian Francis and was substituted by Cllr 
Baljit Hayre. 
 

110. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee held on 
Monday, 20 June 2022 were agreed and signed by the Chair. 
 

111. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

112. 2021 Census Update  
 
The Committee were provided with a presentation from the Assistant Director (Planning).  
 
The full presentation can be accessed through the following link: 
 
(Public Pack)Supplementary Presentations Agenda Supplement for Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee, 10/10/2022 19:30 
 
The Census took place on the 21 March 2021 and it is mandatory to complete. It takes place 
every 10 years so the previous Census was completed in 2011. We are very fortunate to 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2

http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

2 

have some 2021 data already and it is giving us initial findings. The Government will be 
publishing lots of information and there will be the option for bespoke information to be 
produced. 
 
• There were 59,597,300 people living in England and Wales on 21 March 2021, over 

3.5m more than in 2011 (6.3% increase) 
 
• The region with the highest increase was the East of England. South-East was quite 

high, with the lowest in Wales 
 
• The East grew by 8.3% or 488,000 
 
• The North-East grew by 1% 
 
• In Gravesham there was a 5.1% increase in population from 101,700 to 106,900 

which is a modest increase compared to places like Maidstone. In Gravesham we 
have more people in the younger age group of 25-39. There has been an increase of 
13% in people aged 65 years and over, an increase of 2.5% in people aged 15-64 
and an increase of 6.9% in children aged under 15 years. It is good news as people 
are living longer 

 
• Dartford and Thurrock increased significantly by around 20% and 11.6% whilst others 

such as Medway saw an increase of 6% and Sevenoaks 4.9% 
 
• There are areas of population falls, generally in more expensive areas with an older 

population such as New Forest at -0.4% and Gosport -0.9% 
 
• Maidstone has the most households and this has increased. Gravesham is at the 

bottom in terms of overall number of households 41,700 compared to Maidstone at 
71,200. There may still be overcrowding. Dartford has seen the biggest increase in 
households at 14%, Gravesham 3.2% increase.  

 
The Census informs our understanding of the community and how best to target our services 
to address local needs and feeds into the Corporate and Local Plans. It enables us to lobby 
government and partner agencies for better support with bids. 
 
Following the presentation the Assistant Director (Planning) responded to questions as 
follows:  
 
• What are we doing as a borough council to campaign to make sure our housing 

targets are representative of the population growth?  
Back in 2012 when the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy was being produced, 
the requirement was that you had to evidence what your assessed need level was. 
We used the latest population projections and set out a target and included that 
within the submission version of the Core Strategy. At that time migration was static, 
with flows in and out of the Borough being about even and this meant that our growth 
was primarily based on natural change. Developers considered that our figure was 
too low and we had to explain to The Planning Inspectorate why there was so many 
different figures and we explained that this was due to different migration 
assumptions (at that time the Office of National Statistics had just released new 
migration data showing positive migration flows into the Borough). Government 
decided that local authorities are spending all their time fighting with house builders 

Page 4



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

3 

on what the housing level is and it brought in the standard methodology. Since this 
came in, Gravesham’s figures have been increasing every year and we have moved 
from a figure of at least 363 per year to a figure of 733. Part of that is because 
previous government said it isn’t just about looking at current figures but you have to 
look at 30 years of under supply and to look to address that 

 
• As a council what action have we taken to try and get ONS or government to 

understand this is an unrealistic target? What are we doing as a borough to 
challenge these methodologies?  

 
Regarding targets, if the technical evidence based work such as transport modelling 
shows we are unable to meet the development level we would try to justify a level of 
development that is achievable and deliverable. Green Belt is harder because it is a 
constraint but you have the ability to amend via the Local Plan process. Overall most 
area population is 5% less than it was expected to be in the previous projection. In 
Summer 2020, the Government consulted on changing the standard method for 
assessing local housing need and Gravesham was one of the few areas in Kent that 
would benefit from that change in approach. 

 
• It will be interesting to see the movement in salaries, as Gravesham is a bit on the 

low side and also educational attainment is on the low side and we should have a 
target to keep up with the average. 

 
• In the 2021 Census there was a question about highest level of qualification for 

adults in the household and so we will be interested to see this information when it is 
published. There was also a question on income but this was discretionary so we 
aren’t sure if the information that will be available in due course will be helpful. It was 
discretionary because they felt if it was mandatory people would refuse to complete 
the form. 

 
• Phase 3 of the Census will enable you to look at area level where people go and 

come from. The origin and destination information is very difficult to analyse and 
present, and hence why it will be one of the last pieces of information to be 
published. 

 
• Gravesham’s population went up by 5% but the number of households went up less, 

Simple question – what is a household and why the difference in the increase 
between population and household? 

 
Unfortunately, this is not a simple question. A “household” can be one person living 
alone or a group of people, who may be related or not, living at the same address 
who share facilities. A household can consist of a single family, more than one family 
or no families in the case of a group of unrelated people. Historically, the number of 
people in a household has been decreasing over time, but this has not been the case 
recently. We are assuming that affordability is part of the reason with households 
being prevented from forming. Care needs can also be a reason as people are also 
living longer but may have ill health and so move in with family. 

 
• The Community Profile is completed by the Policy Team and there will be a refresh in 

due course. 
 
Members noted the presentation. 

Page 5



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

4 

 

113. Strategic Regeneration Update  
 
The Assistant Director (Strategic Regeneration) provided the Committee with an update on 
strategic regeneration in the borough. 
 
The full presentation can be accessed through the following link: 
 
(Public Pack)Supplementary Presentations Agenda Supplement for Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee, 10/10/2022 19:30 
 
The aim of this presentation is to give a sense of the range of strategic and regeneration 
activities that have been undertaken or are in progress. It sets out activity in Delivery, 
Strategy and Vision. 
 
Gravesham has 11km of riverfront. The Thames is a vital part of the DNA of Gravesham – 
it’s past, present and future. It is a big part of the future of the regeneration plans. Brownfield 
regeneration is key in the plan (Corporate Plan vision objective), delivering housing and 
employment opportunities. 
 
The Charter - delivering 242 homes in the heart of the town centre and is a catalyst to 
stimulate the economy. Target completion 2023. A tender process for the Management 
Provider has been undertaken. 
 
The Former Police Station site which has been vacant for several years went to planning 
committee in September 2022 for 75 later living homes, target start on site late 2022. 
 
Former Maternity Block - Strawberry Star – target start on site 2023. 
 
St George’s Square – creating a new civic and cultural hub and new homes. As part of the 
Levelling Up Fund Round 2 bid, 30 letters of support were secured from regional and local 
stakeholders. 
 
Albion Waterside – potential to unlock delivery of 1500 riverside homes and 4500sq.m. of 
riverside commercial space. 
 
Since February (first presentation to Committee), economic conditions have made 
regeneration/development even more difficult. To counter this, regular dialogue with key 
stakeholders is maintained, relationships with potential strategic partners are being 
strengthened and funding bids have been made.  
 
Importance of Community and Place led regeneration noted. Update provided on Ward 
Walks with Members and offer made by ADSR to Members for future Ward Walks. 
 
Design for Gravesham – ITT issued August 2022 - 923 views on Linked-in, 39 expressions 
of interest and 11 tenders returned. Evaluation of tenders progressing and interview process 
to be convened. 
 
Understanding Gravesham’s unique heritage, character and identity is key. Gravesham has 
many opportunities but is in much need of levelling up with a low wage, low skill and low 
economy and areas of high crime, deprivation and health inequalities. Clarity of and co-

Page 6

http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

5 

production of the vision is important. How do we co-produce the 21st vision – we are finding 
ways for the community to help shape this vision. 
 
We are working to put Gravesham on the map, we have produced videos which showcase 
the place and what it is to be proud to be Gravesham. We will also be attending a number of 
regional events with speaking opportunities and will be attending the Thames Estuary 
Conference in November. 
 
Next Steps: 
 
• On-going progress on key regeneration projects 
• Continue to strengthen relationships with strategic partners 
• On-going ward walks and community engagement 
• Development of Design for Gravesham  
• Develop a holistic regeneration strategy for Gravesham Riverside 
• Continue to promote the borough 
 
Following the presentation the Assistant Director (Strategic Regeneration) commented as 
follows: 
 
• Each individual site requires a bespoke approach: 
 

The former Police Station is moving forward with a new developer with a track record 
for delivery. 

 
Clifton Slipway – we have on-going discussions with developers to try to bring this 
scheme forward 

 
It is trying to find the right people to work with us and pulling on the levers we have. 
We have as much opportunity here as there is in Dartford and Medway. Medway has 
had significant public investment. Regeneration takes time, it is not solved overnight 
and yet despite the challenges a number of sites are moving forward 

 
• The new government administration has new emerging ideas and that may have 

possibilities 
 
• Homes England has a strategic, place-led approach, they are a government body 

and are well placed to assist - we have had discussions around Albion Waterside. 
Homes England have been to Gravesend and visited the regeneration projects and 
fortnightly meetings are taking place with them. 

 
• The increase in interest rates will put even more pressure on projects coming 

forward, making them more challenging to deliver. The Former Police Station, 
Strawberry Star (the old maternity block) and the old cinema site are coming forward 
despite challenges. Churchill Homes have now put hoarding/signage up. 

 
• In terms of money, neighbouring councils have had significant investment. We 

continue to strengthen relationships with national, regional and local stakeholders 
and put Gravesham on the map! 

 
Members noted the presentation and thanked the team for all the work that is being done on 
regeneration. 

Page 7



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

6 

 
 

114. Digital infrastructure - Session 1  
 
The Senior Economic Development Officer gave an overview of what is currently happening 
with the Digital infrastructure. 
 
The full presentation can be accessed through the following link: 
 
(Public Pack)Supplementary Presentations Agenda Supplement for Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee, 10/10/2022 19:30 
 
The main initiative is around high-speed connectivity. There are three parts: 
 
• Commercial roll-out – there are lots of new companies rolling out connectivity quickly. 

That work is being privately funded 
 
• Work that KCC is taking forward which is taking longer to resolve 
 
• The Broadband voucher scheme - There has been a voucher scheme for 10 years. 

Residents can come together to take advantage. There are concerns around 
connectivity, speed, dealing with large amounts of data. It is primarily focused on 
rural areas where they don’t get commercial roll-out because there aren’t enough 
properties. There are a number of criteria to access the vouchers. It depends on 
where your speeds are currently to what level of support you get. Business and 
residents and community groups can bid for the scheme. There does have to be a 
contribution but if there is a larger contribution it becomes more affordable. There are 
a number of organisations who can help with applications.  

 
There are now more options for the consumer as there are a lot less well-known but 
quite active new providers. The role for central and local government is being on the 
front foot of when new development comes on the table to make sure they are 
compliant and for social housing it is about acting responsibly and proactively making 
sure fibre is plugged in to our developments. It is a legal agreement that allows 
transit over our land to plug in fibre. There is more onus on landlords to respond in a 
timely way. It doesn’t require investment from us other than clarity about how we will 
engage with residents, making sure they have access to everything that Broadband 
brings with it.  

 
Following the presentation the Senior Economic Development Officer responded to 
questions as follows:  
 
• By the end of the year it is hoped to bring a paper to Committee setting out 

information on where we have providers and where more information can be found 
 
• Generally speaking, there is a concentration of Fibre in the urban areas owing to 

economies of scale. Discussions are taking place with a company providing open 
access where they are putting their own ducts in. If the council engage with them 
now they can plan their roll-out most effectively, particularly for our social housing 
stock and multiple dwelling units which require access over our land. The more we 
engage with commercial roll-outs, the more areas locally will benefit from additional 
infrastructure and improved broadband services. 

Page 8

http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

7 

 
• A question was raised about the viability of schemes in more remote rural areas, 

even allowing for financial support through Broadband voucher schemes. In 
response, there was an undertaking to circulate details of the latest government-
backed Gigabit voucher scheme which it is hoped will address some of these issues. 
While not always practical, community schemes where trenches or other basic works 
are carried out by local volunteers, were also mentioned as aiding viability by 
reducing direct installation costs of cabling and other infrastructure. 

 
• Kent County Council were hoping to be the beneficiaries of a procurement exercise 

being undertaken by BEIS in connection with the wider Project Gigabit initiative but 
so far this has proved unsuccessful 

 
Members noted the update. 
 
 

115. Dropped Kerb/Driveway Draft  
 
The Assistant Director (Planning) provided the Committee with a presentation on the 
Dropped Kerb/Driveway draft. 
 
The full presentation can be accessed through the following link: 
 
(Public Pack)Supplementary Presentations Agenda Supplement for Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee, 10/10/2022 19:30 
 
Since preparing our draft, Kent County Council (KCC) have published their guidance and 
there are some questions around components that are now different, for example, they now 
seem to be supporting parallel parking - KCC have always resisted this but they seem to 
have changed their position. Our Highways Development Management Engineer has gone 
back to them for clarity. 
 
The Highways Act requires a dropped kerb if you are going to park on the front of your 
property but KCC doesn’t enforce that very much. It is an offence as the pavement has not 
been strengthened. It is to allow vehicles to cross pavements in a safe and legal manner. 
There is a greater demand due to the increased car ownership, lack of on-street parking, EV 
charging etc. 
 
We advise customers to look at KCC’s guidance first because if you don’t meet their criteria 
you are wasting your time contacting us. There are 17 points including next to a road 
junction, near a bus stop etc. KCC needs to have a copy of the planning permission or our 
written authority that planning permission is not needed. Key is whether it is a classified 
road, a road maintained by the Highways Authority. Is it within a designated area, is it a non-
classified public highway, does it have to cross a highway verge or would it harm a tree, is it 
related to another piece of framework, are they requiring engineering works. 
 
If planning permission is required, the applicant will require permission from the owner. If 
they are not the sole owner then they will need to serve a Notice. They may also need to 
obtain landlord consent. If it needs planning permission we will look at how the application 
complies with legislation and local planning policies. 
 
 

Page 9

http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://gbc-modgov/documents/b16812/Supplementary%20Presentations%20Monday%2010-Oct-2022%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabinet%20Committee.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

8 

 
 
 
Issues we don’t consider: 
 
• Applicant’s personal circumstances 
• Private rights and covenants 
• Boundary disputes, ownership matters 
• Other legislation such as Party Walls 
 
If they can’t get off your drive that is a Police matter as obstruction, but if you can’t get on 
your drive that is a private matter. 
 
In London Boroughs they have By-laws that say explicitly you are not to park on footpaths 
and you will get an automatic fine if you do. We don’t have that in Kent but if you go right 
across it, it is an offence. It is a highway issue 
 
It was agreed that once the draft document has been updated with KCC’s changes, it 
will be circulated to Members for comment before going out to public consultation. 
 
Members noted the presentation. 
 
 

116. Corporate Register of Partnership - July 2022  
 
The Assistant Director (Planning) informed Members of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of this committee. 
 
There is only one partnership directly related to this Committee and that is the North-West 
Kent Countryside Partnership. The council does not provide Core Funding to this 
partnership. 
 
Members noted the report. 
 
 

117. Q1 2022-23 Corporate Performance Report  
 
The Assistant Director (Planning) provided the Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Q1 (April to June 2022). 
 
PI 33 and PI 34: % rate of resident unemployment and % rate of youth unemployment.  
Unemployment (4.1%) and youth unemployment (6.2%) has continued to fall at a time when 
vacancy levels within many sectors remained high. 
 
The Kickstart programme has benefitted 8 young people who were offered permanent 
employment within the council. The council is also expanding its apprenticeships and 
provided a wide range of work experience opportunities for 17 young people during this 
quarter.  
 

Page 10



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 10.10.2022 

9 

Members congratulated officers involved with the Kickstart programme. Local government is 
about improving the quality of life for local people and Members are really encouraged by 
this. Youth unemployment falling is something to be commended. 
 
Members noted the information in the report 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.00 pm 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Environment Committee update  – 22nd November

Keith Grimley, Economic Development, Gravesham Borough Council

CONSTRUCTION INFRASTRUCTURE INNOVATION & SKILLS HUB

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5



What is the Skills Hub in response to? What opportunities could it grasp?

A strategic economic development opportunity, to create a local talent pool and innovation hub

Meeting employer demand for skilled labour (all levels of supply chain and local employer cluster), to ensure 
timely delivery of construction projects (NSIP schemes, housebuilding, other infrastructure, local regeneration) 
and to bear down on inflationary labour cost pressures i.e. making it easier ‘to do business’ in north Kent

Local opportunities for local people (adult & young learners; upskilling & returners) – inclusive ladders of 
opportunity incl. careers advice, work experience, high quality “employer-owned” vocational training, job entry

Ensure opportunities are available for local residents, rather than requiring a migrant workforce. Where skills 
are not available in the local area, the hub will deliver programmes to ensure local residents have the skills 
employers require.

Avoiding competition for labour – with 3 Major Projects, 2 town centre redevelopments and the proposed new 
development on Hoo Peninsula, demand for skilled labour will intensify – by collaborating on a skills hub, the 
partners can ensure the right skills are provided for the projects so that competition is limited. 

P
age 14



What is the Skills Hub in response to? What opportunities could it grasp?

Sustainable growth within Thames Estuary i.e. reduced in-commuting and pressures on housing availability

Boost local supply chain objectives for NSIP and other major development projects planned for north Kent / 
Thames Estuary – especially with innovation to meet “Road to Net Zero” objectives

Avoid duplication of training available – ensure training currently available is mapped so employers can be 
signposted to existing provision, followed by identification of gaps in delivery.  Skills Hub would provide training 
to fill those gaps. Gaps will most likely be for non-accredited and short programmes, as FE Colleges and 
providers receiving ESFA, AEB etc funding will be delivering those.

Employer-led provision – Skills Hub training provision can be responsive to and flexible to employer demand as 
it changes. Employers encouraged to partner the Hub with funding.

P
age 15



What does the Industry need?

P
age 16



P
age 17



How a local Hub could harness national and regional agendas and strategies

• Skills White Paper: an emerging national government priority?

• Levelling Up: 

• Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector, especially in those places 
where they are lagging.

• Ensure local training is available to local residents, particularly in areas of high deprivation. Ensure training is 
relevant to the job opportunities available locally. Ensure private sector employers contribute and 
collaborate to maximise opportunities and relevance.

• Shared Prosperity Fund:

• Collaborative Investment Plan required for local/regional areas with investment in three priorities of 
communities and place; local business and; people and skills.

• Skills Hub can be an investment priority for both people and skills, as well as local business – employers 
ensure relevance of programmes, delivery increases skills, jobs and prosperity.

• Inclusive Growth and Social Value:

• Inclusive Growth to ensure local residents and businesses benefit from the economic opportunities generated 
by major projects and strategic regeneration projects. 

• These aspirations include both direct benefit such as job opportunities and using the local supply chain, to 
social value benefits across the wider communities. 

• Skills and training initiatives should be inclusive across all ages and have a broader approach to a 
multigenerational audience - whether it is retraining or developing new skills among residents.

P
age 18



Key Principles

• Making it easier to ‘do business’ in north Kent by accessing a high quality, motivated local talent pool

• Creating a ‘go to’ place for local learners; those taking their first step, to more experienced

• Must add value to existing local offer – collaborative rather than competitive 

• Co-location & design a priority

• Driven by employer skills requirements, of course – should have formalised employer delivery involvement 
driven by commitment to the local area

• Not beholden to qualifications, alone – job entry / upskilling built in to key metrics

• Create a sustainable legacy beyond construction phase – Operation & Maintenance ‘offer’ also

P
age 19



What could a Hub include?

• Designed for use by Supply Chain / Main Contractors – site training / innovation adoption / new techniques

• Training providers - pre-employment / taster / short course vocational (all ages, targeted demographic) 

• ‘Educate the educator’ programmes

• Space for specialist contractors/suppliers to train client side PMs, site managers, site labour / trades

• Flexible meeting / workspace (digitally-enabled) – training, seminars, informal ‘office’ space 

• ‘Demonstration’ space for specialist/innovative suppliers to train PMs, site managers, trades 

• Augmented Reality space for visualisation of project assets for training & other purposes. Secure ICT systems

A natural extension / complement to site based activity 

P
age 20



What could a Hub include?

• Digital first principles, to equip centre for blended workforce / ‘learner’ training – encouraging direct contact

• Externally accessed “lock up” business units – for supply chain and demonstrable local demand, longer term

• ‘Hands on’ / ‘dirty’ workspaces with specialist equipment, relevant to training pre, post and during the 
construction phase - for short courses and practical elements of *vocational qualifications being delivered by 
partner training providers (with a principle of open access beyond ‘anchor’ partners underpinning core costs)

• Other revenue generation / collaboration – externally accessed lock ups, café, public access small meeting 
rooms?

• Iconic boring machine in glass-panelled reception?? (Channel Tunnel inspiration)

A natural extension / complement to site based activity 

P
age 21



Sectoral / Collaboration Focus – not just “Construction”

• Construction / civil engineering

• Innovation (incl. MMC) and Low Carbon Environmental incl. Decarbonisation

• Utilities including digital connectivity / infrastructure? 

• Alternative Fuels?

• Opportunity to promote cross-sector integration / collaboration through degree of co-location and common 
skills training

• Place-shaping – technical briefings for Town Planners, Regeneration / Economic Development, Education 
Providers for example 

• Local Authority and wider public sector asset management / construction partners

P
age 22



Delivery Model & Governance

• ‘Hub and spoke’ with associated co-branding scheme for a distributed, network model working with existing 
providers and even temporary project locations perhaps?

• Including a destination Hub, to complement ambitions for Thames Estuary and create a bespoke space and 
future legacy for the north Kent community, driven by industry and showcasing major projects

• Digital layer to bring together and promote a holistic offer ‘plugged in’ to careers pathways / local and 
national training provision / routes

• Direct employer involvement with co-location of public and private sectors

• No pre-conceptions about who best placed to build, operate or maintain associated partner network

P
age 23



Targets / Key Performance Indicators

• Clear sustainability plan, to create legacy benefit

• Industry ‘ownership’  in terms of governance and operation

• Total no. of training outcomes / job entries

• High % of local people as beneficiaries (though not exclusively – has to be a ‘commercial’ venture)

• Participation rates in local wards / communities where uptake of jobs and training is lower on average, to 
match the average (as a minimum)

• Above average take up of *vocational training in north Kent (Qualification-led &/Or Other)

* VOCATIONAL TRAINING
Higher apprenticeships
Higher technical qualifications
Degrees
Flexible courses for adults looking 
to reskill or upskill
T Levels
Employer-led short courses

P
age 24



Headline Project Milestones

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

1. Research stage incl. employer & provider discussions

2. 

i) Business Case | Initial Feasibility (subject to funding):

- Best practice models (Colleges, Crossrail, CITB, Olympics etc)

- Existing training provision, employer needs, local needs

- Pipeline of major Thames Estuary projects & local Regeneration 

schemes

ii) Investigate bid to National Highways' designated funds 

programme, to undertake feasibility work (subject to advice from 

GBC and KCC Planning colleagues)

iii) Investigate s106 and other development-related funding 

schemes

iv) UK Shared Prosperity & Skills White Paper is key (Level 2 

qualifications and adult learners)

3. Operational Delivery Planning (shaped by feasibility work)

2022 2023

P
age 25



#2

#
1 #3

PEOPLE
PROT E C T E D

E N V I RON MEN T

Q U AL I T Y  

LIVING

PLACE
V I BRAN T  

E C ON OMY

C ON N E C T E D  

C OMMU N I T Y

PROGRESS
E N T RE PRE NEU RIAL  

A U T HORI T Y

S T RON G
L E AD E RS HI P

CORPORATE  
PLAN

P
age 26



Industry Partners and Skills White Paper

OHOB Training Academy Open Day - Highlights - DRAFT (vimeo.com)

Martyn Price MBE, Workforce Development Director (OHOB) and Chair, Cross-industry Construction 
Apprenticeship Taskforce (CCATF). Martyn on Skills White Paper: 

P
age 27

https://vimeo.com/710785505/2b71d0eb5a


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee 

Date: 22 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Planning) 

Subject: Gravesham Local Cycling & Walking Implementation Plan 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide:  

 Feedback on the emergiing Gravesham Local Cycling & Walking Implementation Plan 

 Highlight some of the emerging issues 

Recommendations: 

1. Members are invited to comment on the emerging plan. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal None 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

None 

Corporate Plan Gravesham LCWIP will support a number of the objectives in 
#People and #Place categories in relation to sustainable travel 
and health 

Climate Change  Encouraging sustainable transport is a key objective of providing 
cycling and walking networks  

 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 At the June Committee, Members took part in a workshop session with our 
consultants, PJA, as part of work on the Local Cycling and Walking 
Implementation Plan (LCWIP).  That process has involved technical work and 
consultation with local walking and cycling groups, Parish Councils and others. 

1.2 A draft report has now been received which is currently being revised by the 
consultants in the light of officer comments, including critically those from Kent 
County Council in their role as Transport Authority. A version will be circulated to 
Members before the committee meeting. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 6



2 

1.3 A presentation will be given outlining the progress made and the emerging results. 

2. Background 

2.1 This repeats some material from the previous report for convenience.  The 
consultants have to follow the guidance from the Department for Transport (DfT) 
on producing Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plan (LCWIP), together 
with some tools to help with the process and guidance on design standards.  

2.2 Local Authorities are expected to produce these plans to setting out their priorities 
for routes for both walking and cycling, and priorities for their implementation.  A 
particular aim is to understand where there are major obstacles to be overcome in 
the delivery of integrated walking and cycling networks. The objective is to 
produce a programme of route improvements, that can be funded by a variety of 
means as and when opportunity arises – for example bids to Government funds, 
s.106 contributions, Lottery applications etc. Bids for funding to Government in the 
future for walking and cycling infrastructure will expect a relevant LCWIP to exist. 

2.3 The DfT guidance sets out a 6-stage process, see the table below.   

Stage Name Description 

1 Determining Scope  Establish the geographical extent of the LCWIP, 
and arrangements for governing and preparing 
the plan.  

2 Gathering Information  Identify existing patterns of walking and cycling 
and potential new journeys. Review existing 
conditions and identify barriers to cycling and 
walking. Review related transport and land use 
policies and programmes.  

3 Network Planning for 
Cycling  

Identify origin and destination points and cycle 
flows. Convert flows into a network of routes 
and determine the type of improvements 
required.  

4 Network Planning for 
Walking  

Identify key trip generators, core walking zones 
and routes, audit existing provision and 
determine the type of improvements required.  

5 Prioritising Improvements  Prioritise improvements to develop a phased 
programme for future investment.  

6 Integration and Application  Integrate outputs into local planning and 
transport policies, strategies, and delivery plans.  

2.4 A key objective for the process is to move towards walking and cycling networks 
which provide a set of safe routes to encourage sustainable transport of all sorts 
of trip purposes (work, school etc,.) as part of addressing net zero carbon. There 
are also significant health benefits from physical activity and access to the 
countryside.  A key consideration is what is considered ‘safe’, which will vary 
significantly for different types of users. 

2.5 In Gravesham the current key drivers are changes in demand and routes brought 
about by the Ebbsfleet Garden City on the west side of Northfleet and the Lower 
Thames Crossing on the east side of Gravesend. In the EDC area as a whole 
major development has and is taking place, which is producing a significant shift 
in demand in the urban area. 

2.6 The process is not about the detailed design of schemes, but it is important to 
keep in mind that there are both limited resources and physical space (especially 
in the inner urban areas) to implement them. It is about identifying the key 
corridors where demand suggests schemes should go and potential routes, but it 
is not about working up schemes in detail which is a separate stage. Cycling 

Page 30

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf


3 

considers the whole Borough whereas walking is focussed around Gravesend 
Town Centre. 

3. Initial findings 

3.1 It is important to emphasise that the LCWIP is a dynamic document which will 
change and evolve as circumstances alter, both through new development (and 
therefore demand) and from what walking and cycling schemes are delivered on 
the ground. In particular the work has not, for timing reasons, been able to take 
into account the detail of: 

 Ebbsfleet Central planning application 

 Northfleet Habourside planning application 

 Lower Thames Crossing DCO application 

 New recent planning permissions, for example the expansion of Meopham 
school 

3.2 The aim is to focus on the top priorities for ‘now’ based on the approach that has 
to be taken from the national guidance, which is currently being reviewed. It is not 
attempting to design routes and it is not attempting to produce complete maps of 
walking and cycling routes in the Borough. It also needs to relate to the 
sustainable transport, regeneration, design and health objectives amongst others.  
It is also important to remember that whilst Gravesham is the Planning Authority it 
is not the Transport Authority. 

3.3 Emerging themes and issues (some of which are of a broader scope than the 
LCWIP can deal with): 

3.3.1 The analysis shows strong radial demand in Gravesend, with a particular 
emphasis in the Northfleet direction in part driven by the new development 
in the EDC area 

3.3.2 Rural area comes out weaker simply because there is less population but 
there are none the less suggested routes 

3.3.3 Rural areas would benefit from more detailed work at local level that could 
be carried out in this commission 

3.3.4 The combination of topography (both from the point of view of gradient and 
impact of quarrying on landform in Northfleet) and major transport 
infrastructure introduces some significant barriers 

3.3.5 The current Government design guidance (LTN 1/20) is framed in terms of 
getting segregation for cyclists as far as possible but in many pinch points 
this is simple impractical 

3.3.6 There are a range of measures (for example 20 mph zones, dropped kerbs 
and street scene enhancements) which can improve the environment for 
walking and cycling which need to be considered in a wider context 

3.3.7 As a specific example the Gravesend Town Centre the one way system is 
a major barrier to cross or use for both walkers and cyclists 

3.3.8  Pure leisure routes do not figure greatly (e.g. coastal path) because they 
are not directly related to population 

Page 31



4 

4. Appendices 

4.1 There are no appendices.  

5. Background Documents  

5.1 The following background documents were used:  

5.2 Department for Transport guidance on LCWIP 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-
document.pdf  

Lead Officer:  Tony Chadwick 

Email:  tony.chadwick@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 32

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf


5 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment No financial or legal risks 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes as the LCWIP will need to consider access to walking and cycling networks 
for all types of users 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder None 

Digital and website 
implications 

None 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

None 

 

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee  
 

Date: 22 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Shazad Ghani – Service Manager (Planning Services) 
 

Subject: Dropped Kerb and Electric Vehicle Charging Guidance 
 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Strategic Environment Committee with draft Dropped Kerb and 
Electric Vehicle Charging Guidance documents for consideration and feedback. 
 

Recommendations: 

This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The publication of these guidance documents will assist the 
Council in dispensing its role as the Local Planning Authority.  

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The publication of these guidance documents should assist 
customers in obtaining clarity regarding their proposals in a more 
efficient manner, via the Council’s website.  

Corporate Plan The guidance documents will contribute towards Local Plan 
Objectives 1. People and 2. Place.  

Climate Change  Increased take-up of EV Charging within the Borough can assist 
the Borough in achieving carbon neutral status and improving air 
quality, through the reduction in use of fossil fuel vehicles. 

 
 

1. Dropped Kerb Guidance 

1.1 Prior to any resident within the Borough making an application to Kent County 
Council for a dropped kerb (Crossover), they are required to provide written 
confirmation from Gravesham’s Planning Service that the dropped kerb and any 
associated works are lawful (i.e. benefit from permitted development rights) or that 
they have the benefit of planning permission. 

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



2 

1.2 The current guidance available for residents was previously reviewed in 2009. 
Data published as part of the National Travel Survey 2021, shows that nationwide 
the number of households with a car has increased, with the number of 
households without a car decreasing. Increased in car ownership is placing ever 
greater demands on the limited parking spaces available. In the Borough this 
translates to continued requests from residents seeking preapps/applications for 
dropped kerbs and driveways for their properties. 

1.3 To assist local residents an updated guidance document has been produced (see 
Appendix 1), with a flow chart that will form part of a short guide (Appendix 1b). 
Members views are sought on the document to ensure that resident queries that 
Members encounter are adequately addressed.  

2. Electric Vehicle Guidance 

2.1 Since 2011, data recorded by the National Travel Survey shows that the 
ownership of plug-in hybrid or electric vehicles has doubled. This increase is 
reflected in the demand for EV charging increases. Member’s declared a Climate 
Emergency in 2019, with the Council subsequently adopting a Climate Strategy. 
Climate priorities also form part of the Borough’s existing Corporate Plan and 
adopted Development Plan.  

2.2 To assist residents in understanding what permitted development rights exist for 
installing EV Charging points at home, a short guide has been produced (see 
Appendix 2).   

3. Proposed Next Steps 

3.1 Subject to the Portfolio Holder’s approval, the documents will be published on the 
Council’s website. Members views are sought on the document to ensure that 
resident queries that Members encounter are adequately addressed.  

 

 

4. Appendices 

4.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

- Appendix One – Dropped Kerb Guidance 

- Appendix One b – Dropped Kerb Guidance Flow Chart 

- Appendix Two – Electric Vehicle Charging Guidance 

5. Background Documents  

5.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:   Shazad Ghani – Service Manager (Planning Services) 

Email:    Shazad.ghani@gravesham.gov.uk 

  

Page 36

mailto:Shazad.ghani@gravesham.gov.uk


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A  

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

Subject to Cabinet’s approval, the Council's website will be updated with these 
guidance documents. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report. 

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

 

 

P
age 38



Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

1 
 

  

DRAFT Dropped Kerb Guidance 

Contents 
 
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Driving across a footway without a dropped kerb ................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Vehicle Crossover (Dropped kerb) ....................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Self-Assessment .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Planning Permission ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Classified Roads .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Unclassified Road ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Unadopted Highway ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Can permission for a crossing be refused? .......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Ownership ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Landownership ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Property ownership........................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

How do I apply? ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Procedure for applications that do not require planning permission ................................................................................................................. 8 

Pre-Application Service/ Planning Permission ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Planning Application Validation Guidance .......................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Parking Issues and Enforcement ....................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Glossary............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

 

 

 

P
age 39



Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

2 
 

Introduction 
 
A dropped kerb allows vehicles to cross the pavement from the road to on-site parking.  if you intend to drive a vehicle over the footway into 
your site off from a highway, then a dropped kerb is needed.  
 
This guidance has been compiled to assist residents in making an application for a dropped kerb. Its purpose is to make applicants aware of 
the process and criteria adopted by Gravesham Borough Council for considering dropped kerb applications. In many cases, applications for a 
dropped kerb are successful, however in certain circumstances it may be necessary for an application to be refused if it does not meet the 
requirements of planning regulations. 
 
As part of our commitment to climate change, we have also produced guidance on the development and design of driveways and the 
permeable options to consider when laying hardstanding in a front garden , whilst developing an attractive, secure, sustainable environment. 
 
Separate guidance is also available on permitted development guidance for the installation of Electric Vehicle Charging Points. 
 
The traditional appearance of our streets has changed overtime, with many of our front gardens now functioning as utility spaces. This coupled 
with the decrease in garden sizes of new homes, means that there is less space for flora and fauna to flourish, leading to a marked decline in 
biodiversity1.  
 
Individually paving over a front garden may not make a significant difference, but collectively, paved driveways decrease wildlife, by taking 
away their natural habitat, and increases the risk of flooding and pollution of our waterways. In extreme downfalls pollutants from hardstanding 
such as petrol, oil, and brake dust are transported with the surface water run-off via the roadside drainage directly into the sewage network and 
into  our streams and rivers. Polluted water that enters the foul water sewers can overflow and pass as untreated sewage into our 
watercourses, incidences of which are occurring more frequently. 
  
It is the councils’ aim to address the loss of biodiversity and flooding through facilitating good design2 with a flexible approach to driveway 
development, which reflects the local character and unique features of individual properties and street scenes. Everyone can play their part in 
tackling climate change, loss of biodiversity and localised flooding by thinking of greener design solutions where planting and parking are 
combined.  

                                                 
1 The variety of plant and animal life in the world or in a particular habitat, a high level of which is usually considered to be important and desirable. 
2 The loss of biodiversity and the effect the proposal has on the character of the property and street scene may outweigh the personal benefits of 

on-site parking and  will be considered when determining a planning application and in an appeal against a planning decision. 
 

P
age 40



Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

3 
 

Driving across a footway without a dropped kerb 
 
If you do not have a dropped kerb, you must not drive over the footway. If you do so, you are breaking the law and enforcement action could be 
taken to prevent such practice.  
 
Furthermore: 
 

 You may become liable from a collision with a pedestrian 

 You may become liable for damage to the footway 

 You may face considerable costs as a result of damage to any utility apparatus under the footway  
 

Vehicle Crossover (Dropped kerb)  
 
A dropped kerb is a common name for a vehicle crossover. It is an area of lowered pavement and kerbstones that may in certain circumstances 
be used to gain access by vehicles from a road, across the pavement or verge, into a driveway or parking area. It should not be confused with 
areas where a lowered kerb has been provided to facilitate pedestrian/cycle crossings, as the pavement will not have been strengthened to 
accommodate the weight of private vehicles. 
 
If you wish to drive a vehicle over the pavement/verge into your driveway from the highway you will need a dropped kerb. Driving onto a 
pavement/verge without a dropped kerb results in the driver breaking the law3, therefore, permission for a dropped kerb is necessary to ensure 
that works are constructed correctly taking into consideration the safety of other road users, the pavement, and any services; street trees, pipes 
and cables that are buried beneath it. Failure to gain the appropriate planning permissions could lead to enforcement action and possible costly 
repairs of underground services if damage is caused. 
 

Self-Assessment 
 
In the first instance you will need to assess whether your front garden is suitable for parking a vehicle. Specific criteria need to be considered 
before applying that may rule out the possibility of development. Is there enough space in your garden, are you next to a road junction or traffic 
calming feature, existing lamp column or tree? These are examples of issues that could impact (but not necessarily rule out) your application 

                                                 
3 It is an offence, under the Section 184 of the Highway Act 1980, to cross a kerb, verge, or pavement with a mechanically propelled vehicle, except at a 

crossing point that has been approved by the Highway Authority for that purpose. 

P
age 41

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/contents


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

4 
 

and incur extra costs. It is therefore advisable to read the Dropped Kerb Application Guidance4 document published by Kent County Council 
(KCC), which details requirements for vehicle parking and any supporting information you may need to have in place before you submit your 
application. 
 
At this stage be aware that permission may not be granted even if there are existing vehicle crossovers in your road. The Highway Authority’s 
Policy in relation to minimum depths has changed over time, therefore properties in your road may have a vehicle crossover that comply with 
historical standards which no longer apply. When assessing your application, the size of your vehicle will not be taken into consideration, and 
you will need to comply with the current standards, the fact that previous permissions have been given with shorter parking spaces will not be 
taken into consideration by Kent County Council or Gravesham Borough Council when assessing your proposals.  
 

Planning Permission 
 
In addition to assessing whether your request meets with the guidelines published by Kent County Council, you will also need to check whether 
planning permission is required. It is the applicant’s own responsibility to check whether planning permission will be required and to obtain 
permission where necessary.  
 
Planning permission is generally needed in the following circumstances, although this list is not exhaustive:  
 

 the access is to be on a classified road 

 the access is to a commercial property  

 the access is to a property that is a maisonette or divided into flats 

 the access is to a listed building  

 the access is in a conservation area, which is covered by Article 4 Direction  

 the access is likely to affect a tree, which is protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  
 
If you do not live in a conservation area and live in a single dwelling house (a property which is occupied by a single household rather than split 
into two or more units) that is not a listed building, there are certain alterations you can carry out to the front of your property without planning 
permission. This is known as Permitted Development and set out in the document General Permitted Development Order 1995 (as amended) 
known as GPDO. 
 
The GPDO provides that it is Permitted Development to create a new means of access to a highway providing that the highway is not a trunk or 
classified road, and the access is required in connection with other permitted works taking place at the property. 
 

                                                 
4 "https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/139485/Dropped-Kerb-Application-Guidance.pdf" 

P
age 42

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/139485/Dropped-Kerb-Application-Guidance.pdf


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

5 
 

This means that the formation of a crossover onto a non-classified road will usually be permitted development (Part 2, Class B) if you are also 
carrying out other work permitted under the GPDO. These associated works include: 
 

 Building a new garage or car port (Part 1, Class A) 

 Laying a new driveway (Part 1 Class F) 
 
Furthermore, as part of alterations to the front area no gate, garage door and the like will be permitted to open over the public highway. 
 
Permitted development rights are not exclusive and are subject to certain restrictions on size, location, and materials. Applicants are advised to 
enlist the services of a planning consultant for advice on this matter or refer to the Planning Portal. For peace of mind when planning works 
under Permitted Development rights, householders can apply to the Council for a Certificate of Lawful Development. 
 
This is required if you wish to obtain formal confirmation that your proposal does not require consent under Section 192 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Guidance on this procedure can be found here. 
 

Classified Roads 
 
If your property is situated on a Classified Road, it will be necessary to obtain planning permission before creating a hardstanding for parking a 
vehicle off road. The Council supports proposals that can be achieved safely and without detriment to the character of the area. A list of 
classified roads in Gravesham that will require planning permission prior to your application to KCC can be found here5.  Planning permission 
needs to be obtained from Gravesham Borough Council before you apply for a vehicle crossover. 
 
Should the Council approve the development it is your responsibility as the applicant to ensure, before the development is commenced, that all 
necessary permissions and highway approvals and consents, where required, are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established. 
 

Unclassified Road 
 
The formation of a residential access on to an unclassified road is considered Permitted Development. You can perform certain types of work 
without needing to apply for planning permission. These are called "permitted development rights". They derive from a general planning 
permission granted not by the Council but by Government. Bear in mind that the permitted development rights which apply to many common 
projects for houses do not apply to flats, maisonettes, or other buildings. Similarly, commercial properties have different permitted development 
rights to dwellings. In 'designated areas', permitted development rights are more restricted. For example, if you live in: 

                                                 
5 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/parking-and-roads/dropped-kerbs/classified-roads 

P
age 43

https://www.rtpiconsultants.co.uk/#/
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/responsibilities/planning-permission/lawful-development-certificates
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/parking-and-roads/dropped-kerbs/classified-roads


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

6 
 

 a Conservation Area 
 an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 
You will need to apply for planning permission for certain types of work which do not need an application in other areas. There are also different 
requirements if the property is a listed building. Our advice is that you should contact the Council’s Development Management department and 
undertake a pre-application of your proposal before any work begins, if any of the following apply, as in these instances planning permission 
may be required: 
 

 The proposed access crosses land which is not part of the residential curtilage owned by the applicant or some other "change of use" is 
involved, 

 the proposed works include paving more than five metres sq. of the forecourt in non-porous materials, 

 the creation of an access requires engineering works, such as changes to ground levels or building of structures, 

 the creation of the parking space affects a Listed Building, a Conservation Area or requires the removal of trees which are the subject of 
tree preservation orders (TPO's), 

 other development is taking place which requires the access; or the site is already subject to a planning condition restricting the creation 
of access or parking spaces. 

 

Unadopted Highway 
 
There are two main types of private or unadopted road: those on new developments such as housing estates and those which, usually by 
historic accident, have existed for a long time, often since the nineteenth century. Some private or unadopted roads are highways, but not all, 
and the position is not always easy to determine.  

 
Consent will be needed from the owner(s), please note the Council does not maintain details for who owns private or unadopted roads. You will 
need to obtain planning permission from the Council.  

Can permission for a crossing be refused? 
 
Permission for a crossing can be refused and the reasons would be individual to that location. The points below whilst not an exhaustive list 
provide examples for why permission may be refused:  
 

 The gradient of your site requires material to be excavated or added which constitutes an engineering operation 

 Your property is on a bend or at a road junction 

 A tree and or amenity land impede access  

P
age 44



Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

7 
 

 Street furniture or a street lamp impede access 

 Your property is close to traffic signals 

 There is a steep slope between your property and the road 

 There is insufficient garden area 

 There is insufficient visibility 

 The development will harm a listed building and or Conservation Area 

 
Undertaking a pre-application will assist in informing you of any reason why the development may not be permitted and if you need to apply for 
planning permission for all or part of the work. 
 
Additionally, a planning consultant may help with the smooth running of your project and guide you on your permitted development 
requirements. A directory of planning consultants is maintained by the Royal Town Planning Institute at https://www.rtpiconsultants.co.uk/#/ .  

Ownership 
 

Landownership 
 
If your proposed access crosses any highway verge (grassed or tarmac) this land is classified as amenity space, and you will need planning 
permission. In some cases, this land may belong to Gravesham Borough Council or a third party in which case you will need the landowner’s 
consent to pursue your application. 
 
Your householder’s deeds or Land Registry plan may state that you own the subsoil to the centre of the highway, however in this instance it is 
the subsoil that you own not the highway on top, the latter will be in the ownership of Kent County Council. 
 

Property ownership 
 
If you do not own your property, you will need the consent of your landlord/property owner. This also applies to properties owned by 
Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
 

P
age 45

https://www.rtpiconsultants.co.uk/#/


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

8 
 

How do I apply? 
 

Procedure for applications that do not require planning permission 
 
Applications for a vehicle crossover/dropped kerb are made to Kent County Council as they are the highways authority, but in the first instance, 
and for your application to be considered for approval, you must obtain written confirmation from Gravesham Borough Council (the Council) in 
the form of a ‘Vehicle cross-over confirmation letter.’  This letter provides an informal view of whether planning permission is / is not required to 
support your application to KCC. To obtain a confirmation letter apply here6.  This service is not free of charge. 
 
As part of this procedure the Council will only consider the following: 
 

 You own the property or that you have permission from the owner(s) 

 The property is a single undivided dwelling, not flats/apartments, a commercial property, etc 

 The property is not in a designated area, with no permitted development rights or with permitted development rights removed 

 The access is from non-classified public highway 

 Your access does not cross any highway verge or impeded by a tree on the highway 

 The proposed dropped kerb is being delivered as part of other associated permitted development i.e., Building a new garage or car port 
(Part 1, Class A) and/or laying a new driveway (Part 1 Class F) 

 No engineering works are being undertaken that require planning permission 
 

If the above criteria are met a letter will be issued, if the above criteria are not met, you will be advised that you need to obtain planning 
permission for your proposal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
6 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/how-much-does-it-cost  

P
age 46

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/how-much-does-it-cost
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/how-much-does-it-cost


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

9 
 

Pre-Application Service/ Planning Permission 
 
If you need planning permission, we strongly advise you to contact Gravesham Borough Council and discuss your proposal before any work 
begins via the pre-application service. The Council runs a pre-application service where you can seek our initial views before committing further 
resources to a project and applying for planning permission if required. See pre-application planning advice7 pages for information. 
 
Each planning application is different and must therefore be considered on its own individual merits. Decision on planning applications are 
taken based on ‘material considerations’ which include the development plan. Where the development plan has policies which affect the 
proposal, they will dictate the decision, unless there are other material considerations which should take precedence. 
 
Material considerations include the following: 
 

 How the application complies with national, regional, and local planning policies, circulars, and guidance 

 Whether there are any other issues or planning constraints affecting the site, such as flood risk, contaminated land, conservation areas, 
listed buildings etc 

 How the development fits in with its surroundings 

 Design and appearance 

 Scale 

 Materials 

 Access 

 Traffic generation 

 Safety of highway users 

 Use/activity to be carried out 

 Nuisance e.g., noise 

 Contribution to any significant local, national, or international objective 

 Previous appeal decisions 

 Compliance with Central Government's National Planning Policy Framework. 

 Central Government's planning circulars e.g., affordable housing, planning gain, and the historic environment 
 
Issues which we cannot consider when making a planning decision: 
 

 Most personal circumstances of the applicant 

                                                 
7 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/overview  

P
age 47

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/pre-application-planning-advice/overview


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

10 
 

 Private rights and covenants 

 Boundary disputes/ownership matters 

 Other legislation such as the Party Wall Act  

 Protection of a view 

 Property values/financial loss. 
 
The amount of opposition or support for a scheme will not in itself constitute a reason for either granting or refusing planning permission. 

Planning Application Validation Guidance 
 
You must include all the necessary information from the validation list with your planning application. The Validation list for Vehicle Access & 
Crossovers8 is divided into two sections for applications made to Gravesham Borough Council as follows: 
 
National Requirements: 
 

 Application forms 

 Fee 

 Location Plan with Red Line Boundary 

 Block Plan 
 
Local Requirements: 
 

 All drawings must include title and drawing number, electronic drawings must be in pdf format 

 Plans: Elevations and Sections (Existing and Proposed) 

 Tree Survey and Report prepared by a qualified arboriculturist 

 Details of surface water disposal  
 

In all cases, a new access onto the public highway or alterations to an existing crossover will need the approval of the highway 
authority. Please see Apply for a dropped kerb9  on the KCC website for further information. 

 

 

                                                 
8 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/966762/Vehicle-Access-Crossover-Application.pdf  Bitesize information 1st April 2020 
9 https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/apply-for-a-dropped-kerb  

P
age 48

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/966762/Vehicle-Access-Crossover-Application.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/966762/Vehicle-Access-Crossover-Application.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/apply-for-a-dropped-kerb
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/966762/Vehicle-Access-Crossover-Application.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/apply-for-a-dropped-kerb


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

11 
 

Parking Issues and Enforcement 
 
Abandoned vehicles 
An abandoned vehicle is one which has not been moved or attended to for a significant period of time. If the vehicle is taxed, insured and has a 
M.O.T. it may not be possible to get the vehicle moved. Abandoned vehicles, especially those causing a nuisance by obstructing roads, traffic 
and pedestrians, or those that are damaged should be reported to Kent Police at https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-
behaviour/ In certain instances abandoned vehicles can also be reported to the DVLA or Gravesham Borough Council, please see 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking/abandoned-vehicles-1 for further details.  

 
Parking disputes 
Whilst it may be frustrating and inconvenient, if a parking space is available on a public road, even if that space is directly outside your house, 
any road user is entitled to park in that space.  
 
Designated parking spaces 
If someone has parked in your designated parking space without your permission, please try and resolve the issue peacefully yourself. If you 
lease a property with a parking space, please contact whoever is responsible for your building, such as the freeholder, council or managing 
agent, and seek their assistance. 
 
If the issue continues, you can report this antisocial behaviour to Kent Police at https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-
behaviour/ 
 
Blocked Driveway 
If someone has blocked your driveway stopping you from entering or leaving your property, please politely engage with the owner of the vehicle 
if that is possible. If you are unable to leave your property due to a blocked driveway Kent Police may be able to assist and can be contacted at 
https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/   
 
Illegal Parking 
If a vehicle is parked on a zig zag line, dangerously or in a way that would prevent emergency vehicles from gaining access, Kent Police may 
be able to assist and can be contacted at https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/    
 
Parking Restrictions 
Gravesham Borough Council undertakes on and off street parking enforcement throughout the Borough. On Street enforcement is carried out 
on behalf of Kent County Council under Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004. ‘On-street’ relates to enforcement of traffic regulation 
orders on the public highway. This includes restrictions such as yellow lines, disabled bays, loading bays, taxi ranks, bus stops, school zig zag 
markings and permit parking areas. ‘Off-street’ relates to enforcement in the Council owned and maintained car parks and off street. 

P
age 49

https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/
https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking/abandoned-vehicles-1
https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/
https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/
https://www.kent.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

12 
 

parking places. 
 
 
The hours during which restrictions are in force can vary and the responsibility lies with the motorist to take care when and where they park. 
Restrictions are generally as follows: 

 Resident parking schemes, Permit Parking Areas and Controlled Parking Zones. 

 Single and Double Yellow Lines 

 Loading Prohibitions 

 Designated Loading Bays 

 Disabled Bays 

 Taxi Ranks 

 School Keep Clear Markings 

 Bus Stops 

 On Street Pay & display areas 

 Car Park restrictions/tariffs.  
 
The Council follows Enforcement of parking regulations fairly, lawfully and without discrimination. A Robust approach is taken to both on and 
off-street enforcement and Penalty Charge Notices are issued in regard to contraventions observed.  
 
For further information on parking restrictions, please visit https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking/parking-restrictions-1  

 
Planning Enforcement  
To get a kerb dropped outside your house you will need permission from Kent County Council, but they will first need confirmation from 
Gravesham Borough Council as the Local Planning Authority that planning permission is not required for the works. If a dropped kerb is 
installed either by Kent County Council or a third party without planning permission first being obtained or without the development falling within 
permitted development rights, the Council’s Planning Enforcement team may take enforcement action for the unauthorised development to be 
removed, in line with the Council’s adopted Planning Enforcement Policy.   

P
age 50

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking/parking-restrictions-1


Draft Dropped Kerb Guidance 

13 
 

Glossary 
 
Classified Road These are roads with an A, B or C designation 
 
PD rights  Permitted Development rights PD - Alterations or additions that are allowed to a house and the surrounding gardens 

and yards that do not require an application for planning permission. Permitted Development rights for householders are 
set out in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995. A restriction on the paving of 
front gardens was introduced in an amendment to the order coming into force on 1 October 2008. In some areas of the 
country, known generally as ‘designated areas,’ permitted development rights are more restricted. If you live in a 
Conservation Area, a World Heritage Site, a National Park, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or the Norfolk or 
Suffolk Broads, you will need to apply for planning permission for certain types of work which do not need an application 
in other areas. There are also different requirements if the property is a listed building. The general advice is that you 
should contact your local planning authority and discuss your proposal before any work begins. They will be able to 
inform you of any reason the development may not be permitted and if you need to apply for planning permission for all 
or part of the work.  

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



If you have answered YES to any of the above questions, you need to apply for Dropped Kerb / 
Vehicle Crossover pre-application, to confirm your proposal falls within Permitted Development 
Rights, before applying to KCC.

I would like to apply to Kent County Council to install a dropped kerb

YES

NO

Do any of the following apply to the property you are seeking 
a dropped kerb for:

• Property is subject to an Article 4 Direction
• In a Conservation Area 
• A Listed Building 
• On a classified road (A,B or C) 
• A flat, maisonette, business or community use building
• Will your proposal affect a tree which is protected by a 

Tree Preservation Order
• Does the proposed access cross a highway verge (grass, 

tarmac or other hardstanding)?
• Are engineering works required to adjust gradients on 

site?
• Do the proposed works include more than 5metres sq of 

non-porous hardstanding?

Are the works to be undertaken associated with works under 
the GPDO* for example:

• Building a new garage or car port (Part 1, Class A)
• Laying a new driveway (Part 1 Class F)

Are you the owner of the land or do you have the owners 
express consent?

*The Town and Country Planning(General Permitted Development)(England)Order

YES

NO

If you have answered
 YES

 to any of the questions, 
you need to apply for planning 

permission from 
the Council

If you have answered
 NO

 to any of the questions, 
you need to apply for planning 

permission from 
the Council

Page 53

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/pre-application-planning-advice
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/347/article-4-direction-2020
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/348/conservation-areas-2020
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/327/listed-buildings-2020
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/streets-open-spaces/dropped-kerbs/2


This page is intentionally left blank



Electric Vehicle Charging Points – Permitted Development Guidance 
 

 

Climate Emergency 

Climate change is a reality. Over the course of the last 250 years, our actions have increased carbon dioxide emissions by more than 30%, 

resulting in higher temperatures and changing the world we live in. Without taking action now, the impact will be devastating. 

 

In response to the challenges facing not only the UK, in June 2019 the Council passed a motion to declare a climate emergency and, accordingly, 

committed us to taking a lead in achieving Carbon Neutral status. 

 

In December 2021, the council set out an ambitious Climate Change Strategy, which was developed with assistance from Local Partnerships and 

sets out the council’s approach to not only taking action against its own emissions but also supporting communities in the borough to reduce 

their emissions and carbon footprint. The Council’s Climate Change Strategy can be viewed on our website 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/council-democracy/climate-change/2 . 

 

It is recognised that a reduction in total vehicle miles travelled and electrification of vehicles is needed to meet both climate and air quality goals, 

and that Electric Vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure in Gravesham needs to scaled up to contribute towards this goal. The number of EVs on 

our roads is growing, with demand for EV charging infrastructure from both residents, businesses and visitors A range of EV charging 

infrastructure projects are already underway to support and enable this growth, such as the provision of EV charging infrastructure in Parrock 

Street Car Park.  

 

The aim of this guidance is to assist local residents in understanding the current planning regulations for installing EV charging points at home, 

and it should be read in conjunction with other guidance produced by the Council on dropped kerbs and driveways.  

 

 

Charging at your home: Off-street charging 
 
Under the Highways Act 1980, Part IX Lawful and Unlawful Interference with Highways and Streets, it is illegal for any person to place or run a 
cable or wire along or across a public highway. Having the cable trail from your home, across the pavement to your car will cause a safety 
hazard. If a passer-by injures themselves due to your cable, you can be held responsible. Furthermore, a cable across the ground can limit 
accessibility of the footway and can impact negatively on people with disabilities. 

P
age 55



 
There is no instance in which you can trail your cable across the pavement, including the use of pavement drainage channels or a cable 
protector. Neither of these options are permitted as per the Highways Act. 
 
Those who have access to off-street parking (e.g., a driveway or garage) can install a charging point in their home subject to several 
considerations.  These considerations are set out in Schedule 2, Part 2, Classes D and E1 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), also known as the GDPO. The GDPO states that planning permission is not 
required for the installation of a wall mounted electrical outlet or an upstand with an electrical outlet mounted on it for recharging of electric 
vehicles as long as the area is lawfully used for off–street parking. 

If you have a front garden and want to create an off-street charging space for yourself, you need to follow the guidance in this document for 
dropped kerbs, the need for an electrical vehicle charging point in itself will not be the determining factor for whether or not your proposal for a 
driveway falls within permitted development or will be successful in obtaining planning permission.  

For installation of an electrical charging output (Class D - covers the erection of a porch outside an external door) to be considered as permitted 
development, the electrical outlet (and its casing) must not: 

 Exceed 0.2 cubic metres 

 Face onto and be within two metres of a highway 

 Be within a site designated as a scheduled monument 

 Be within the curtilage of a listed building. 

For installation of an upstand with a mounted electrical charging outlet (Class E - covers the provision of buildings and other development 
within the curtilage of the house) to be considered as permitted development the upstand and outlet must not: 
 

 Exceed 2.3 metres in height from the level of the surface used for the parking of vehicles. This limit is 1.6 metres where in the curtilage 
of a dwellinghouse or block of flats 

 Be within two metres of a highway 

 Be within a site designated as a scheduled monument 

 Be within the curtilage of a listed building 

 Result in more than one upstand being provided for each parking space. 

                                                 
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/907/regulation/5/made Town and Country Planning (Permitted Development, Advertisement and Compensation 

Amendments) (England) Regulations 2019 

P
age 56

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/907/regulation/5/made


 
For Class D and E, when the electrical outlet is no longer required as a charging point for electric vehicles, the wall (on which the outlet was 
mounted) or the land (on which the upstand was placed) must be returned to its previous condition (prior to the installation being carried out) as 
soon as possible. 

If you are in a conservation area, and your charging point will be visible to the public, you may need to seek planning permission. You will also 
need planning permission if your property is a listed building.  

 
 

  

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee 

Date: 22 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane - Assistant Director (Planning)  
Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities) 
 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Strategic Environment Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2022-23 (July to September 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 
policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

Page 59 Agenda Item 8



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides the Strategic Environment Committee with an 
overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 
2022-23, covering the period July to September 2022.   

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Strategic Environment Portfolio – Q2 2022-23 
 

4. Background papers 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

 Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Wendy Lane - Assistant Director (Planning)  

Email:  wendy.lane@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 60

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3 

 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 
achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

 

Page 61

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

S T R A T E G I C  E N V I R O N M E N T
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q 2  :  2  0  2  2  -  2  3

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 63



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes added to the council tax valuation list

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 21 24 53 14

2020-21 45 71 17 69

2021-22 49 124 122 88

2022-23 138 120

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 64

2020-21 135

2021-22 230

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 

Affordable Housing update 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
 1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high 
quality market and affordable housing.

Additional homes update

Annual indicator

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

During this period, an approval of condition applications was agreed for Armoury Drive where 
GBC was the applicant.

In July, a planning application for conversion of existing building to accommodate 14 residential 
apartments with ancillary cycle and bin storage facilities was submitted for the Former Guru 
Nanak Darbar Gurdwara in Clarence Place.

In August, a request for a scoping opinion was submitted in respect of a proposed outline 
planning application with all matters reserved, except for means of access, for a mixed-use 
redevelopment at land surrounding Ebbsfleet Football Club

During Quarter 2, we saw 21 affordable homes completing across two sites, this compared to 29 
affordable homes completed in Q1.

The largest number of completions this quarter took place at Watermans Park where Orbit and 
Sage took handover of 12 homes.

A further 9 homes for affordable rent were completed on the Land in Meopham the old police 
station by GCHA.

A breakdown of affordable homes delivered during Quarter 2 in terms of type and size is detailed 
below:-

- Affordable Rent
9 x 3 bed house

- Shared Ownership
12 x 2 bed flat

0

50

100

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0

100

200

300

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 64



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0%

2020-21 11.2% 11.1% 12.3% 12.0%

2021-22 12.4% 12.0% 11.4% 10.7%

2022-23 12.0% 12.0%

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276

2020-21 40,386 91,077 72,701 47,360

2021-22 81,812 89,650 86,593 78,274

2022-23 88,954 91,501

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic 
regeneration schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 
Vacancy rates in the Town Centre remained unchanged at 12% in Q2 compared to Q1.  This is 
consistent withthe same quarter 2021/22.  Vacancy rates continue to travel in the right direction, 
though rates remain around three percentage points above pre-pandemic levels.  Works continue 
on a number of premises in the Town to bring them back into a marketable state.  Some, such as 
the large unit at the corner of High Street/King Street, are being subdivided and are combined with 
residential developments above which conribute to increasing the number of people living in the 
Town Centre.   Nationally the vacancy rate in Town Centres dropped slightly to 13.9% this 
quarter(Local Data Company).  Retail parks (9.7%) are performing better than High Streets, but 
shopping centres are faring less well (18.9%).

Town Centre footfall increased in Q2, consisent with the same quarter 2021/22.  The figure for 
this quarter remains around 80% of pre-pandemic levels.   Nationally Town Centre footfall has 
declined by a higher figure of 25.7% over the three year period 2019 to 2022 (Q2).  Forecasts 
suggest the footfall will continue to fall due to declining consumer confidence. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 65



P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties    

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 £64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,751,422

2020-21 £64,801,072 £64,759,342 £64,636,262 £65,463,462

2021-22 £64,894,183 £64,980,178 £64,913,348 £66,622,768

2022-23 £66,654,388 £66,160,488

P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 N/A 247 240 237

2020-21 217 207 194 186

2021-22 193 207 209 208

2022-23 201 213

Progress by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to bring forward a preferred scheme for new 
employment space at Northfleet Embankment East are awaited.  Additional commercial space is 
planned at Clifton Slipways, within St George's Square, Albion Waterside and North East 
Gravesend.

Officers are assisting with the Creative Estuary Workspace Study which is identifying 
opportunities to expand creative workspace provision and for additional support to the sector and 
local authorities.  The next stage of this work will be to undertake feasibility studies of available 
space.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and 
improve local land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

#2 PLACE 

£64,000,000

£65,000,000

£66,000,000

£67,000,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

175

200

225

250

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 66



P I  32 % net gain in active businesses                                          (refers to previous year)  

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 0.3%

2020-21 4.3%

2021-22 1.2%

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and 
encouraging new start-ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive 
economic growth. 

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 

In July, Wickes received planning permission for removal of existing entrance canopy and replace 
with cladded entrance feature with installation of new showroom window, covered trolley park, car 
park alterations and bollards, and removal of outdoor projects centre.

Also in July, the ATN Partnership who are chartered accountants in Parrock Street were given 
permission for Erection of first floor rear extension to provide space for a conference room.

Leading Edge Labels at East Mill received permission for the siting of a waste extraction system 
in the car park to sit alongside the existing unit provided pursuant to a 2004 application. The 
accompanying planning statement explained that the provision of this unit would enable the 
applicants to increase their on-site recycling from 7% to 42%.

The Senior Economic Development Officer assisted with arrangements for a schools:business 
event hosted at St George’s Secondary School on 6 July.  Presentations were given from careers 
expert David Stewart, the Careers & Education Company and KCC’s Education People. 70 people 
attended, including many local businesses and around 20 careers leaders from local secondary 
schools.   25 businesses completed a survey to express their interest in working practically with 
schools to improve career pathways and to inspire the interest of learners in local careers, 
through talks and work experience, for example.

A Summer business networking event was held at a High Street hospitality venue on 18 August to 
help showcase businesses in a sector looking towards recovery.

Gravesham economic development exhibited at a Women in Business event in July, alongside 
the Federation of Small Businesses and benefited from a short radio advert on the Business 
Bunker radio station, to promote the Gravesham Business Network and support offered to 
individual businesses by the team.  Also as a Meet the Bidder event at the Inn on the Lake, for a 
major project in North Kent – with the aim of promoting net zero grants and other support, to local 
supply chain businesses.  

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 67



P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5%

2020-21 7.3% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%

2021-22 6.5% 5.6% 5.0% 4.7%

2022-23 4.1% 4.0%

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.3% 5.6% 5.8% 6.0%

2020-21 12.2% 12.9% 12.5% 13.3%

2021-22 11.5% 9.0% 7.7% 7.2%

2022-23 6.2% 6.3%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

4. Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of 
measures that support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern 
business. 

Unemployment (4%) fell slightly this Quarter and youth unemployment rose slightly to 6.3% from 
6.2% last Quarer.

The Council is expanding its apprenticeship programme with currently 13 young people employed 
across a range of services.

Officers continue to represent the council in skills development discussions including the Lower 
Thames Crossing Skills, Education and Employment Working Group and wider discussions via 
the North Kent Adult Skills Forum and North Kent Skills Group.

0%

3%

6%

9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 68



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 75.0% 100% 100% 83.3%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 50.0% 100% 100% 100%

2022-23 100% 100%

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 61.4% 77.0% 77.0% 85.8%

2020-21 95.0% 100% 96.6% 95.8%

2021-22 97.7% 97.9% 94.2% 95.4%

2022-23 92.9% 95.7%

In Q2
- Major applications –100% (3 major decided, 3 in time)
- Minor and other applications – 95.67% (208 applications decided, 199 in time)

In September, planning and listed building applications for 55 High Street Gravesend were 
withdrawn following heritage concerns raised by the Council and the Victorian Society.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

5. Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development 
management service, underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic 
natural and built environment. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Construction Infrastructure Innovation & Skills Hub
	6 Local Cycling and Working Infrastructure Plan Report
	7 Dropped Kerbs and EV Charging Guides
	Appendix 1 Dropped Kerb Guidance
	Appendix 1b Flow Chart
	Appendix 2 Electric Vehicle Charging Points

	8 Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1)
	Q2 2022-23
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (FINAL).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Draft).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q3 2021-22.pdf
	Q3 2021-22
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q3 2021-22









